# RECEIVED

10-04-2018

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal No. 2017AP000141-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

DENNIS L. SCHWIND,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming an Order of the Walworth County Circuit Court, the Honorable James L. Carlson and the Honorable David M. Reddy, Presiding

> WALTER LAW OFFICES LLC 108 West Court Street Elkhorn, WI 53121 Tel. (262) 743-1290 Fac. (262) 723-7715

By: Andrew R. Walter State Bar No. 1054162

#

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Does a circuit court have inherent power to modify its judgment in a criminal case to reduce the length of probation?

The court of appeals declined to address this issue.

II. Assuming a circuit court has inherent power to modify its judgment in a criminal case to reduce the length of probation, what limits, if any, apply to the exercise of that power?

The court of appeals relied on its decision in *State v. Dowdy*, 2010 WI App 158, ¶¶ 31-32, 330 Wis. 2d 444, 792 N.W.2d 230, *aff'd on other grounds*, 2012 WI 12, 338 Wis. 2d 565, 808 N.W.2d 691, to hold that if a circuit court has this inherent power, it is subject to the same limitations that apply to a circuit court's inherent power to modify sentences.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are appropriate in this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The issues in this case are pure questions of law: whether a circuit court has inherent power to modify its own judgment to reduce the length of probation, and what standard should apply to the exercise of that power. These questions do not depend on

the facts of this case and will impact probationers convicted of serious felonies as well as those convicted of the petty misdemeanors. Schwind's position is that whether to exercise those powers in any given case should lie in the sound discretion of the circuit court.

Nevertheless, it must be conceded that Schwind has been convicted of very serious offenses. In 2001, he was convicted of numerous acts of sexual assault of the same child, including incest. (R.21-22; App. at 1-4). The circuit court imposed twenty-five years of probation. The judgments state that the "Court would consider early termination of supervision after deft has served a minimum of 15 years, upon recommendation of the agent. (R.1, R.2; App. at 1-4.)

In 2014, Schwind brought a motion to terminate probation. (R.32.) His probation agent testified Schwind should be discharged. (R.49:6.) However, the agent said he could not petition for discharge because of a policy set forth "by the State." (R. 49:5-6.) The circuit court summarized the Department's position as "wink, wink, we agree, but we can't petition," and the agent agreed. (R.49:6.)

The circuit court denied Schwind's motion. It said it lacked statutory authority to reduce his probation term because Wis.

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All convictions were in Walworth County Case No. 2000CF407. The circuit court entered one judgment of conviction for an imposed and stayed sentence, (R.22; App. at 1), and another for a withheld sentence on the two other convictions, (R.21; App. at 3). The judgments were later amended to add that Schwind could travel to Illinois and Indiana for employment while serving a conditional jail term, (R.24; App. at 5-6), and to clarify the location of his treatment, (R.28; App. at 7-8).

Stat. § 973.09(3)(d) requires a DOC petition. (R.49:12.) Section 973.09(3)(d) states:

The court may modify a person's period of probation and discharge the person from probation if all of the following apply:

- 1. The department petitions the court to discharge the person from probation.
- 2. The probationer has completed 50 percent of his or her period of probation.
- 3. The probationer has satisfied all conditions of probation that were set by the sentencing court.
- 4. The probationer has satisfied all rules and conditions that were set by the department.
- 5. The probationer has fulfilled all financial obligations to his or her victims, the court, and the department, including the payment of any fine, forfeiture, fee, or surcharge, or order of restitution.
- 6. The probationer is not required to register under s. 301.45.

Schwind asked the circuit court to exercise its inherent authority to terminate his probation. (R.49:3.) The circuit court first said that it had that authority, (R.49:11), but later it said that it wouldn't decide whether it had that authority, (R.49:15). Ultimately, the circuit court held that it wouldn't exercise any inherent powers because "once you start utilizing some of those inherent powers, that's a slippery slope that this court is not willing to go down." (R.49:11.) Thus, the court denied Schwind's motion. (R.49:18.) However, the court told Schwind that he could

refile his motion, and that the judge who imposed the sentence would rotate onto the case again that August.<sup>2</sup> (R.49:14.)

Schwind filed a second motion in 2016. Because of a change in the expected judicial rotation, the case remained with the Honorable David M. Reddy instead of being assigned to the sentencing judge. The court declined to schedule a hearing. Instead, it denied Schwind's motion by an order which stated that the court lacked authority under § 973.09(3)(d) to discharge probation because the Department did not file a petition. (R.36; App. at 9.)

Schwind moved for reconsideration. (R.37.) His motion and supporting papers explained that Schwind was requesting that the court exercise its inherent authority, and the court's order did not address that issue. (R.37.) The court agreed to hold a hearing on the merits.

After a hearing, the circuit court held that courts have no inherent authority to reduce a probationary term. (R.54:10-12, 18-19; App. at 10-12, 18-19.) Therefore, it denied Schwind's motion. *Id.* 

The court of appeals affirmed. *State v. Dennis L. Schwind*, No. 2017AP000141-CR (Ct. App. Feb. 14, 2018). On appeal, Schwind asked the court to hold that a circuit court has inherent power to modify its judgments to reduce the length of probation. Schwind's Court of Appeals Brief at 5-7. Additionally, he asked the court to hold that circuit courts may exercise that power for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Honorable James L. Carlson presided at sentencing. The Honorable David M. Reddy presided over Schwind's motions for early discharge.

cause. *Id.* The court of appeals held that if a circuit court has that inherent power it is subject to the same limitations as the power to modify sentences, that is: clear mistake, a new factor, or undue harshness or unconscionability. Slip op. at 3. Schwind did not establish any of those, thus the court of appeals affirmed.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a circuit court has inherent authority to modify its judgments presents a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *City of Sun Prairie v. Davis*, 226 Wis. 2d 738, 747, 595 N.W.2d 635 (1999).

#### ARGUMENT

At issue is the power of the courts to modify their own judgments when necessary to accomplish their judicial functions. The courts cannot effectively exercise their function of imposing remedies in criminal cases if they are powerless to act when they discover they have imposed an illegal remedy, imposed a remedy without the benefit of essential information, when the chosen remedy is altered by clerical error, or when adherence to an order would obstruct the purposes of that order. Therefore, just as courts have inherent power to modify sentences, they must have inherent power to modify their judgments to reduce the length of probation.

The standard that guides a circuit court's exercise of that power should be designed to effectuate the purposes of a probationary order. After all, a probation order that is not suited to achieve the goals of probation, or that even obstructs them, is not an accomplishment of the judicial function of imposing probation. Probation and sentencing have different purposes, so a standard designed to serve the purposes of sentencing is unsuitable. Instead, the Court should hold that a circuit court may exercise the inherent power to modify its judgment to reduce the length of probation when doing so would advance probation's purposes of rehabilitating the defendant while protecting society.

I. A circuit court has inherent power to modify its judgment in a criminal case to reduce the length of probation.

Circuit courts possess inherent powers, which are those powers that are necessary for the judiciary to accomplish its constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions. State ex rel. Friedrich v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 192 Wis. 2d 1, 16, 531 N.W.2d 32 (1995). Imposing sentence and imposing probation are both judicial functions. State v. Horn, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 648, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999). This Court has already held that a circuit court has inherent power to modify its sentences. See Hayes v. State, 46 Wis. 2d 93, 101, 175 N.W.2d 625 (1970) overruled on other grounds by State v. Taylor, 60 Wis. 2d 506, 523, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973). The court has never explicitly applied that power to probation modification, but it should make that clear now. The concerns that led the Court to recognize the inherent power to modify sentences also apply to probation. In addition, the power is essential because sometimes adhering to the original judgment can obstruct the purposes of probation. Further, the Court at least suggested the existence of this power in *Hayes*. Finally, like sentence modification, a circuit court's inherent power to modify its own judgment to reduce the length of probation does not unduly interfere with the legislative or executive branches functions regarding probation.

Our constitution expressly grants powers to courts, and it also provides them with inherent, implied, and incidental powers ("inherent powers"). *Friedrich*, 192 Wis. 2d at 16. A power is inherent if it is necessary to enable the judiciary to accomplish its constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions. *Id*. One area courts assert these powers is "ensuring that the court

functions efficiently and effectively to provide the fair administration of justice." *City of Sun Prairie v. Davis*, 226 Wis. 2d 738, 749-50, 595 N.W.2d 635 (1999).

Within that area, the Court has held that a circuit court has inherent power to modify a sentence. *See Hayes*, 46 Wis. 2d at 101. A circuit court may exercise that power in three situations: (1) to correct a clerical error or illegal sentence; (2) when there is a "new factor" that was unknown but highly relevant to the purpose of the sentence; and (3) if the sentence is unduly harsh or unconscionable. *State v. Crochiere*, 2004 WI 78, ¶ 12, 273 Wis. 2d 57, 681 N.W.2d 524.

The same concerns that necessitate that power also necessitate the power to reduce a probation term. A clerical error can undermine a court's intent regardless of whether the judgment imposes sentence or probation. A judgment that imposes an illegal remedy, whether it be an illegal sentence or illegal probation term, is not an accomplishment of the judicial function. And when a circuit court learns of a new factor, the inability to modify the order to reflect the newly discovered information frustrates the purposes of probation as much as it could frustrate the purposes of sentencing. Thus, a circuit court needs at least as much power to modify a probation term as it has to modify a sentence.

There is an additional need for this power with regard to probation orders. Courts impose probation to rehabilitate the defendant while protecting society. *State v. Sepulveda*, 119 Wis. 2d 546, 554, 350 N.W.2d 96 (1984) (stating that the dual purposes of probation are rehabilitation and protection of the public). Sometimes rigid adherence to the judgment can obstruct those

goals. For example, a probationer may not be able to accept a promotion that would require interstate travel or be forced to resign when an employer transfers them to another state. *See* Interstate Commission for Adult Offender Supervision, ICAOS Rules § 3.101 (2018) (limiting interstate travel without the receiving state's approval). Employment is an integral part of the rehabilitation process. *See County of Milwaukee vs. LIRC*, 139 Wis. 2d 805, 821, 407 N.W.2d 908 (1987). In these situations, the probation order could actually obstruct the purposes of probation. If the defendant has already been rehabilitated, or if employment is the only remaining rehabilitative need, reduction may be necessary to accomplish the purpose of the probation order.

Further, the absence of this power generates absurd results. Under Wis. Stat. § 973.09(3)(a), circuit courts have the power to remove all conditions of probation. If the probationer has been rehabilitated, a court could remove all conditions of probation to avoid wasting supervisory resources. This isn't supervision, it is merely the illusion of supervision. It undermines the integrity of supervision and the public's confidence in it.

Additionally, the holding in *Hayes* is broad enough to establish this power. The Court held that in a criminal case "a trial court may exercise its inherent power to modify its judgments after the execution of sentence has commenced and the term ended." *Hayes*, 46 Wis. 2d at 101. No court has modified that language to state that the power to modify judgments does not include the probation portion of a judgment. *See State v. Dowdy*, 2012 WI 12, ¶ 5, 338 Wis. 2d 565, 808 N.W.2d 691 (declining to address this issue). In fact, the Court subsequently approved the use of this power to modify a probation term when

it held that a court could "modify" a probation term to a three-year prison sentence based on subsequent developments that frustrate the purpose of the probation order. *See Sepulveda*, 119 Wis. 2d at 556-59 (holding a circuit court could modify a probation term to a prison term because the defendant was not admitted to an inpatient treatment facility as the probation order required).

As is the case with sentence modification, a circuit court's inherent power to modify its own judgments to reduce the length of probation does not unduly interfere with the powers of the legislative or executive branches. Probation and probation revocation are within the shared powers of the legislative, executive, and judicial branches of government. State v. Horn, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 648, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999). "Like sentencing, the legislature has constitutional authority to offer probation as an alternative to sentencing, the judiciary has authority to impose probation, and the executive branch has authority to administer probation." *Id.* As in sentencing, a court must be able to modify its judgment when necessary to effectively accomplish its function of imposing a proper remedy in a criminal case. Such a modification in an area of shared power does not interfere with the powers of the other branches any more than sentence modification.

In sum, circuit courts have the power to modify their own judgments in this manner. It is necessary at least for the same reasons that courts need the power to modify sentences, and it is necessary to accomplish the judicial function of imposing probation. However, this power is subject to reasonable limitations. Thus, the Court should determine the limits of that power.

II. The Court should hold that a circuit court may, in its discretion, exercise the inherent power to modify its judgment to reduce the length of probation when doing so will advance the defendant's rehabilitation and the protection of society.

Because an inherent power is one that is necessary to accomplish a judicial function, that function's purpose should dictate the standard for exercising that power. The Court followed that logic when it developed the standards for sentence modification; it chose a standard designed to effectuate the purposes of sentencing. Thus, to fashion a standard for probation modification, the Court should seek a standard that advances the purposes of imposing probation. Sentencing and probation have different purposes, so the sentence modification standard is unsuitable. Thus, the Court should overrule the court of appeals decision in *State v. Dowdy*, 2010 WI App 158, ¶¶ 31-32, 330 Wis. 2d 444, 792 N.W.2d 230 (holding that if courts have inherent power to reduce the length of probation it is limited in the same manner as sentence modification) aff'd on other grounds, 2012 WI 12, 338 Wis. 2d 565, 808 N.W.2d 691. Another option is to hold that a court can exercise this power when there is "cause," meaning that reducing the length of probation will advance the defendant's rehabilitation and the protection of society. That is the better option, because it defines the parameters of the power but still provides enough flexibility to allow courts to ensure that rigid adherence to probationary orders does not obstruct the purposes of probation.

The Court has provided several principles to follow in deciding when a circuit court may exercise its inherent power to modify its judgment in a criminal case. First, there must be some reasonable limitations on a circuit court's inherent power to modify its judgments. *Hayes*, 46 Wis. 2d at 105. Second, those limitations exist "in the interest of promoting justice in the administration of criminal law." *Id.* at 101.

Those limitations should further the purpose served by the judicial function. The limitations on sentence modification exist because finality is essential to achieve the purposes of sentencing. Sentencing has four primary purposes: deterrence, retribution, rehabilitation, and segregation. *State v. Loomis*, 2016 WI 68, ¶ 96, 371 Wis. 2d 235, 881 N.W.2d 749. Finality is essential for deterrence and retribution. *Dowdy*, 338 Wis. 2d 565, ¶¶ 99-100 (Abrahamson, C.J., dissenting) (*citing Crochiere*, 273 Wis. 2d 57, ¶¶ 12, 23). Thus, a restrictive standard designed to achieve finality was essential to achieve the purposes of sentencing.

However, finality is not necessary to accomplish the purposes of probation. Probation has different purposes than sentencing. Those purposes are: (1) rehabilitation; and (2) protecting the public without imprisoning the defendant. *State v. Gray*, 225 Wis. 2d 39, 68, 590 N.W.2d 918 (1999). Finality is unimportant; Wis. Stat. § 973.09(3)(a) gives the court continuing power to extend probation or modify its conditions, and a defendant can reject probation at any time, *State v. McCready*, 2000 WI App 68, ¶ 6, 234 Wis. 2d 110, 608 N.W.2d 762.

Because probation has different purposes than sentencing, the Court should not transplant the "new factor" limitation from sentence modification onto a circuit court's inherent power to reduce the length of probation. In sentence modification rehabilitation is not a new factor. *State v. Kluck*, 210 Wis. 2d 1, 7-8, 563 N.W.2d 468 (1997). But rehabilitation is the purpose of

probation. Because rehabilitation is the goal, any standard that requires courts to ignore rehabilitation is inappropriate.

The "for cause" standard is best suited to effectuate that purpose. This standard is flexible because flexibility is necessary to achieve the purposes of probation. See Prue v. State, 63 Wis. 2d 109, 114, 216 N.W.2d 43 (1974) ("The trial court should have leeway if probation is to be an effective tool of rehabilitation."). The American Bar Association advises that "the success of probation as a correctional tool is in large part tied to the flexibility within which it is permitted to operate." ABA, Standards Relating to Probation, § 3.3 (comment) (1970). Thus, the ABA recommends that courts should have the authority to terminate probation at any time and should exercise that power when the offender has made a good adjustment and supervision is no longer needed. ABA, Standards Relating to Probation § 4.2 (1970).

This flexibility is necessary to respond to changing circumstances in the ongoing process of rehabilitation. For example, an already rehabilitated probationer may not be able to accept admission to a prestigious university in another state because of travel restrictions. In that case rehabilitation might be better served by early termination, particularly if the term is nearing its end or the defendant has been rehabilitated. Flexibility is also important to protect the public. For example, a victim who garnishes the wages of a probationer pursuant to a civil judgment might benefit from early termination of probation when that probation would cause the defendant to lose a job that requires interstate travel. As these examples demonstrate, in some cases adherence to the probation order can obstruct the purposes of that order. For that reason, the inherent power to

reduce the length of probation is necessary to accomplish the purpose of probation.

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