11-30-2018

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT** 

# In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

υ.

DENNIS L. SCHWIND,
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

On Appeal From The Walworth County Circuit Court, The Honorable David M. Reddy, Presiding, Case No. 2000CF407

# RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

KEVIN M. LEROY Deputy Solicitor General Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 leroykm@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-2221

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Subsection 973.09(3)(d) provides the exclusive basis for a circuit court to reduce a probationer's term of probation. The circuit courts may not reduce a probationer's term as an exercise of their inherent authority.

A. The Wisconsin Constitution grants circuit courts the limited inherent powers needed to enable the court to accomplish its constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions. This Court has recognized that circuit courts generally may exercise their inherent authority in three areas: first, to run their internal operations; second, to regulate the bench and bar; and third, to ensure their efficient and effective functioning. Included within this third area is the circuit court's power to correct clerical errors at any time.

The power to reduce a term of probation is not necessary for the circuit courts to accomplish their functions. Indeed, this power operates *after* the court has completed its duty of disposing of criminal cases, inviting the court to unsettle those criminal cases it has properly decided. Moreover, this power is absent from the historical record, and it is not required as a matter of justice, given that the courts give probation in lieu of the harsher criminal sentence.

The power to reduce probation also does not fit within the three areas where circuit courts have generally exercised their inherent authority. First, it plainly does not relate to internal court operations. Second, it has nothing to do with the regulation of the bench or bar. Third, reducing a term of probation does not contribute to the efficient and effective functioning of the court. Rather, this power would add matters to the circuit court's docket that were not contemplated by the Legislature. This necessarily displaces other matters central to the circuit court's purposes, including bail hearings, criminal trials, and sentencing. Of course, this does not mean that circuit courts may not correct clerical errors in judgments of probation, since they possess such error-correcting power with respect to all of their judgments, regardless of the subject matter.

Schwind primarily argues that the circuit courts must possess this inherent power because they possess the inherent authority to reduce criminal sentences under Hayes v. State, 46 Wis. 2d 93, 175 N.W.2d 625 (1970), overruled on other grounds by State v. Taylor, 60 Wis. 2d 506, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973). However, the Court should not extend the holding of Hayes to probation for a variety of reasons: Hayes itself suggests it is inapplicable to probation, since that is purely a statutory creation. 46 Wis. 2d at 101–02. This Court has already refused to extend Hayes to one aspect of probation and confined it to its facts in Drinkwater v. State, 69 Wis. 2d 60, 66 n.1, 230 N.W.2d 126 (1975), and it again refused to extend Hayes beyond sentencing in State v. Machner, 101 Wis. 2d 79, 83, 303 N.W.2d 633 (1981). Finally, Hayes does not align with this Court's modern inherent-authority jurisprudence.

B. Even if circuit courts once had the inherent authority to reduce probation, the Legislature enacted a reasonable

regulation of that authority with Subsection 973.09(3)(d). Circuit courts must follow that statute.

This Court recognizes that a circuit court's inherent authority is often a shared power with the Legislature, subject to the Legislature's reasonable regulation. Subsection 973.09(3)(d) is such a regulation—it provides that the courts may grant reductions in probation only where: (1) the Department first petitions the circuit court, (2) the probationer has completed 50 percent of his probation, (3) the probationer has satisfied all of the court's conditions of probation, (4) the probationer has satisfied all of the Department's rules and conditions of probation, (5) the probationer has paid the conviction's financial obligations, and (6) the probationer is not required to register as a sex offender. This Subsection ensures that only the most deserving of probationers apply for, and receive, a reduction and it leaves the ultimate decision of whether to reduce a term with the circuit courts.

II. If the circuit courts do have the inherent authority to reduce a term of probation beyond Subsection 973.09(3)(d)'s limits, *Hayes*' strict standard for modifying sentences should govern the exercise of that authority.

A. Under *Hayes* and its progeny, a circuit court may modify a sentence under limited circumstances to correct an illegal sentence or a clerical error, to modify a sentence in light of a new factor, or to remedy an unduly harsh or unconscionable sentence. These limits are necessary to

respect the principle of finality, since unsettling sentences harms the State, crime victims, and others. Further, these strict limits avert a flood of sentence-modification litigation that would prevent circuit courts from fulfilling their more pressing duties.

These same concerns apply with equal, if not greater, force to reductions in probation. Probation reduction invokes strong finality concerns, like sentencing, since probationers too have harmed the community with their crimes. There are more defendants on probation than serving sentences, thus the floodgates concern here is even more acute than in sentence modification. And application of *Hayes*' settled jurisprudence would provide clear guidance to the circuit courts should they have to consider these probation-reduction claims.

Schwind's arguments in favor of a "for cause" standard to govern probation-reduction claims—instead of *Hayes*' standard—are unpersuasive. The "for cause" standard provides no guidance to the circuit courts, inviting them to reduce a probation term, no matter the length, whenever a probationer says he no longer benefits from probation. Further, Schwind's boundless standard expressly ignores bedrock finality concerns and misunderstands the relationship between probation and sentencing.

B. As the Court of Appeals held, and as Schwind impliedly concedes, Schwind cannot meet the *Hayes* standard, should it apply to probation-reduction claims. Thus, if this

Court concludes that this standard applies, it should affirm the denial of Schwind's probation-reduction motion.

III. If the Court believes that circuit courts have the inherent authority to reduce a term of probation beyond Subsection 973.09(3)(d), and that a standard more lax than the *Hayes* sentence-reduction standard applies, then a remand to the circuit court to apply that lax standard is required. On remand, the State can present powerful arguments against reducing Schwind's probation: Schwind committed horrific crimes against his own child, he flagrantly violated the terms of his probation, and his current probation conditions are not unduly burdensome.

### ARGUMENT

# I. Subsection 973.09(3)(d) Provides The Exclusive Basis For Reducing A Term Of Probation<sup>3</sup>

The Wisconsin Constitution grants the circuit courts certain inherent powers, which enable these courts to fulfill their constitutional or statutory duty. Some powers within the circuit courts' inherent authority are "shared powers" with the Legislature, as that term is used in this Court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In *Dowdy II*, the State conceded that circuit courts "probably" have inherent authority to reduce a sentence of probation, Br. of Plaintiff-Respondent, *Dowdy II*, 2011 WL 1867887, at \*8, but this Court declined to decide the issue because it had not been briefed and argued before the circuit court, *Dowdy II*, 2012 WI 12, ¶ 43. In this case, the State argued below that circuit courts lack such inherent authority, consistent with this Court's conclusion in *Dowdy II* that this remains an unsettled issue. Br. of Plaintiff-Respondent at 5, *State v. Schwind*, No. 17AP141 (Ct. App. filed Sept. 7, 2017); see R.49:7.

separation-of-powers jurisprudence. Under those circumstances, the courts must follow statutes governing the courts' inherent authority, so long as those statutes are "reasonable regulations." As relevant here, the circuit courts' inherent authority never included the power to reduce a term of probation. But even if the courts did once have this inherent power, Subsection 973.09(3)(d)'s limitations on when courts may exercise that power is a "reasonable regulation" that binds the circuit courts.

# A. The Circuit Courts Never Had The Inherent Authority To Reduce A Term Of Probation

1. The Wisconsin Constitution grants to circuit courts those "inherent, implied, and incidental powers" that "are enable necessary to [them] to accomplish their constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions." State v. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350 (citations omitted). These are the powers "needed to maintain the courts' dignity, transact their business, and accomplish the purposes of their existence." Id. (citation omitted). They are the powers "without which a court cannot properly function." *Id.* (citation omitted).

The court's inherent authority "arises by implication from the very act of creating [a] court" in the Constitution. Smith v. Burns, 65 Wis. 2d 638, 645, 223 N.W.2d 562 (1974) (citation omitted). That is, "when the term 'court' is used in the Constitution[,] it is plain that the framers had in mind that governmental institution known to the common law

possessing powers characterizing it as a court and distinguishing it from all other institutions." In re Kading, 70 Wis. 2d 508, 518, 235 N.W.2d 409 (1975) (citation omitted). For this reason, this Court will often look to historical practice when considering whether a particular power inheres in the court. See Barland v. Eau Claire Cty., 216 Wis. 2d 560, 590, 592, 575 N.W.2d 691 (1998) (looking to "[e]arly in the history of this state" and "historical custom"); State v. Braunsdorf, 98 Wis. 2d 569, 573, 584–85, 297 N.W.2d 808 (1980) (looking to whether a practice was "inherited from English common law" or was "only recently . . . articulated in American jurisprudence").

2. This Court has recognized that the circuit courts "generally" may exercise their inherent authority in "three areas." *Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73.

First, circuit courts have the inherent authority to run the "internal operations of the court." City of Sun Prairie v. Davis, 226 Wis. 2d 738, 749, 595 N.W.2d 635 (1999); see Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73. For example, this Court has recognized the inherent power of a circuit court to "retain its judicial assistant" and "its janitor," Sun Prairie, 226 Wis. 2d at 749 (citing Barland, 216 Wis. 2d 560, and In re Janitor, 35 Wis. 410 (1874)), "to appoint [a] bailiff," "to order installation of an air conditioner," Barland, 216 Wis. 2d at 583, and to "refuse . . . facilities [that are] inadequate," Sun Prairie, 226 Wis. 2d at 749.

Second, because courts have the power "to regulate the bench and bar," *Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73, this Court has recognized the circuit courts' inherent authority to "determine whether attorneys' fees are reasonable," *Sun Prairie*, 226 Wis. 2d at 749; to "discipline members of the bar," *State ex rel. Fiedler v. Wis. Senate*, 155 Wis. 2d 94, 103, 454 N.W.2d 770 (1990); and to "decide a question of representation," *Koschkee v. Evers*, 2018 WI 82, ¶ 11, 382 Wis. 2d 666, 913 N.W.2d 878 (per curiam).

Third, and most relevant to the issues in dispute here, circuit courts have the power "to ensure the efficient and effective functioning of the court" or "to fairly administer justice." Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73. Circuit courts thus have authority "to hold a person in contempt," Smith, 65 Wis. 2d at 645, to "vacate a void judgment" due to lack of jurisdiction, see Sun Prairie, 226 Wis. 2d at 750, and to "appoint counsel for indigent parties," id. This Court has also recognized that circuit courts have the inherent authority to "dispos[e] of a criminal case" by "impos[ing]" the "penalt[ies]" that the Legislature has "prescribe[d]," "including imposing and revoking probation" when that disposition is authorized first by the Legislature. Horn, 226 Wis. 2d at 640, 645–46; infra p. 33 (explaining this Court's holding that this is "shared power").

Further, within this third area, this Court recognizes the "clear" rule that circuit courts possess inherent authority "to correct clerical errors at any time." *State v. Prihoda*, 2000

WI 123, ¶ 17 & n.9, 239 Wis. 3d 244, 618 N.W.2d 857 (citing Hayes, 46 Wis. 2d at 101–02); e.g., 21 Corpus Juris Secundum, Courts § 248 & n.8 (2018). These are errors that fail "to preserve o[n] record . . . the actual decision of the court." Prihoda, 2000 WI 123, ¶ 15 n.6 (citation omitted). For example, a written judgment's failure to accurately reflect a sentence that the court pronounced orally is such an error. See id. ¶ 15; CJS, supra, § 248 ("scrivener's errors"). Clerical errors are contrasted with "judicial error[s]," which are errors flowing from a court's "deliberate," yet erroneous, resolution of an issue. Prihoda, 2000 WI 123, ¶ 15 n.6 (citation omitted).

3. Here, the court's inherent authority does not include the power to reduce a term of probation. This power does not fit within the definition of inherent authority that this Court accepts, nor does it fall within the "three areas" where circuit courts have "generally exercised inherent authority." *Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73.

The authority to reduce probation is not a power "necessary to enable" the court to "accomplish [its] constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions." *Id.* Rather, this power would necessarily operate *after* the court has completed its duty: the disposing of a criminal case brought by the State. *See Horn*, 226 Wis. 2d at 640; *Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 75. Once "a convicted defendant is sentenced to prison or the circuit court imposes probation, the adversary system" of the judiciary "has terminated," and "the executive branch['s]" administration of parole "has been substituted in

its place." Horn, 226 Wis. 2d at 650 (citations omitted). For the same reason, the power to reduce probation is not a power "without which a court cannot properly function," as it invites the court to *unsettle* those cases that it has properly decided. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73 (citation omitted). In short, "[t]here is simply no case law, statutory authority, or basis in the constitution to show that without [this power], a court will cease to exist or it will not be able to exercise its jurisdiction in an orderly and efficient manner." Sun Prairie, 226 Wis. 2d at 754. Moreover, the power of the court to reduce probation is not found in history and so cannot be a part of the power a "court" is understood to necessarily have, as the Constitution uses that term, Barland, 216 Wis. 2d at 590, 592; see Braunsdorf, 98 Wis. 2d at 573. "Probation [itself] was unknown to Wisconsin law when the language of sec. 973.15(1) came into our statutes" in 1909. Drinkwater, 69 Wis. 2d at 68; Conrad, supra, at 458–59. Thus, a fortiorari, reducing a term of probation could not be a part of Wisconsin law at the time "the framers" wrote the Constitution. Kading, 70 Wis. 2d at 518.

More broadly, there can be no claim that justice requires reductions in probation outside of circumstances contemplated by the Legislature. "Probation" itself "comes as an act of [legislative] grace to one convicted of a crime." State ex rel. Johnson v. Cady, 50 Wis. 2d 540, 547, 185 N.W.2d 306 (1971). It is "not a matter of right, rather it is a privilege." Edwards v. State, 74 Wis. 2d 79, 83, 246 N.W.2d 109 (1976);

see also State ex rel. Greer v. Wiedenhoeft, 2014 WI 19, ¶ 39, 353 Wis. 2d 307, 845 N.W.2d 373. Indeed, the "legislature not only can specify when a person convicted of a particular crime may be eligible for [probation] but can also disallow or abolish the right to [probation] for any or all crimes." State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 764, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992) (considering related concept of parole). Accordingly, a defendant receiving a term of probation—of any duration—instead of a sentence of confinement is receiving not "his due," but society's mercy. See generally David Miller, Justice, Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Fall 2017), https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2017/entries/justice/.

Nor does the power to reduce probation fall within the "three areas" of inherent authority that this Court has "generally" recognized. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 73. As for the first "area," reducing the term of probation does not help the judiciary "guard against actions that would impair [its] powers or efficacy," id., since probation is unrelated to such matters, unlike court-personnel or facilities issues. It also does not relate to the second "area," "regulat[ion] [of] the bench and bar," id., like judging the reasonableness of attorneys' fees.

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